**RECEIVED**

**02-28-2018**

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT III  
CASE NO. 2017-AP-002132

---

In re the Paternity of B.J.M.

Timothy W. Miller,

Joint-Petitioner-Appellant,

and

Angela L. Carroll,

Joint-Petitioner-Respondent.

---

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Barron County,  
Honorable J. Michael Bitney, Circuit Judge, presiding

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

HERRICK & HART, S.C.  
STEPHANIE L. FINN  
STATE BAR NO. 1000734  
DAVID J. RICE  
STATE BAR NO. 1018742  
Attorneys for Appellant  
116 WEST GRAND AVENUE  
POST OFFICE BOX 167  
EAU CLAIRE, WI 54702-0167

## ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Judge's acceptance of a litigant's Facebook friend request after the hearing, but before rendering his decision, create an appearance of impropriety requiring relief?

**Trial Court Answered:** Judge Bitney held there was no subjective conflict or partiality, nor an objective appearance of such, because, even though he accepted a litigant's Facebook friend request before rendering his decision, he had already made up his mind. (R134,p32)

2. Did the Judge's acceptance of a litigant's Facebook friend request after the hearing, but before rendering his decision, create ex parte communications requiring relief?

**Trial Court Answered:** Judge Bitney held that there was no ex parte communication because he did not specifically "like" or comment on any of the litigant's posts. (pR134,p31-32)

3. Did the Judge err in how he conducted the best interest analysis?

**Trial Court Answered:** The safety of the mother, as well as the safety and wellbeing of the child, is a paramount interest. (R134,p36-38,41-44)

## **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

There are two principal issues in this case. The first addresses judicial disqualification due to the appearance of impartiality and ex parte communications between the judge and a litigant in the context of electronic social media. This appears to be an issue of first impression in Wisconsin. As such, this case will enunciate a new rule of law or modify or clarify existing rules in the context of the relatively new medium of electronic social media (ESM). There are no Wisconsin published decisions addressing this issue. In the growing age of ESM, this issue presents a substantial and continuing public interest. As such, both oral argument per Wis. Stat. §809.22 and publication per §809.23 are warranted.

The second issue presented in this case deals with the sufficiency of the evidence and the analysis for the court's findings and decision with regard to modification of custody and placement. This argument is more case specific and does not meet the standard for publication. The briefs should be able to adequately address these arguments.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a post-paternity action. The parties stipulated to custody and placement in August, 2011.(R1) In August, 2016 the mother, A.C., filed a motion to modify custody from joint legal custody to sole legal custody; to modify from joint physical placement to primary physical placement with her; and requested permission to move with the child to Arizona.<sup>1</sup>(R4)

Her supporting affidavit alleged concerns about parenting and threats of abuse, and included a copy of a domestic abuse injunction obtained that same month.(R5;R7, Ex.C) The father, T.M., vigorously opposed the changes and disputed the allegations.

A custody hearing took place June 7-8, 2017. Written arguments were filed June 16<sup>th</sup>. The GAL's final recommendation provided, in part:

Wis. Stats. §767.41(2)(am) provides a rebuttable presumption that joint custody is in the best interest of the minor child. However, sole custody may be granted pursuant to Wis. Stats. §767.41(2)(b)2c. If the court finds the parties are unable to cooperate in the future decision making required under an award of joint legal custody. In making this finding the court shall consider, along with any other pertinent items, any reasons offered by a party objecting to joint legal custody. Evidence that either party engaged in abuse, as defined in s.813.122(1)(a), of the child, as

---

<sup>1</sup>The motion specified Arizona. A.C.'s Affidavit indicated the move was to Las Vegas.(R5) At the hearing A.C. stated she wanted to move to Durand.(R132,p7)

defined in s.813.122(1)(b), or evidence of interspousal battery, as described under s.940.19 or 940.20(1m), or domestic abuse, as defined in s. 813.12(1)(am), creates a rebuttable presumption that the parties will not be able to cooperate in the future decision making required.

I am recommending sole legal custody be awarded to A.C. as to education and medical care. The parties cannot have any communication and will not be able to cooperate in the future decision making required for the child.

I am recommending that because T.M. has been the primary parent involved in the non-school activities with the child, that he have the ability to make decisions regarding those activities and any extracurricular activities ie. sports, clubs, or association involvement.

As to physical placement, I am recommending that the parties continue with the current shared placement schedule... Exchanges of the child should continue to occur at the school, at the police department (on non-school days), or with a third party...

My perception of B.M.'s speech impediment is that his stuttering becomes heavier when there are changes in his life. The teacher noted three specific times during this past school year in which B.M.'s speech changed. The beginning of the school year (after the restraining order went into affect); in February (the same month that Angela sold her home and moved in with her mother); the end of the school year (another residential move would occur). The teacher noted that after 2-4 weeks B.M.'s speech did improve.

I believe A.C.'s proposed schedule for placement and attendance at activities would be a substantial change from the roles each parent currently plays in B.M.'s life. The longest time B.M. currently spends away from either parent is three days. He is used to regular and consistent time with both mom and dad. B.M. is also used to his dad helping coach him in sports. Amanda DeLawyer testified that she regularly sees T.M. with B.M. at extracurricular functions. That T.M. helped coach her children and others in wrestling and

baseball ... B.M. identifies T.M.as being the parent involved in all of his activities. Under A.C.'s proposal, B.M. would not have this interaction with his father..

I did take into consideration Wis. Stats. §767.41 (5)(bm), which states "the safety and well being of the child and the safety of the parent who was the victim of the battery or abuse shall be the paramount concerns in determining legal custody and periods of physical placement." A.C. testified that she is worried about her own safety. A.C. indicated that she did not have a concern for B.M.'s safety, while placed with his father. The restraining order is a court order, not just a piece of a paper. It has been in place since August of 2016; it does provide the necessary safety for A.C. (R91;App.1-7)

Judge Bitney rendered his a written decision on July 14, 2017 granting sole custody to A.C., substantially modifying placement, and permitting the move the Durand. (R92)

That same day, the GAL learned that Judge Bitney and A.C. were Facebook friends and notified T.M.'s counsel. (R104;106;107)

T.M. subsequently moved for reconsideration per Wis. Stat. §805.17(3), and relief per Wis. Stat. §806.07. He argued the Facebook friending, along with the ex parte communication from both the request and acceptance, as well as that which occurs through the newsfeed feature, gave rise to an appearance of impropriety which required disqualification and a new trial. (R103;109)

T.M. also argued that reconsideration was appropriate on the merits because of trial court error. Properly applying the modification criteria and considering the evidence presented, it was in the child's best interest to retain shared custody and placement. (R103;117)

The motion for relief was denied. This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

##### **The parties' relationship**

A.C. and T.M. were never married nor ever lived together. They share one child in common, B.M., born August 2010, whom they raised in the Rice Lake area. When B.M. was six months old the parties had an altercation giving rise to criminal charges against T.M., and a restraining order. (R54;57) Subsequently, A.C. recanted and requested that the restraining order be dropped, stating she did not want T.M. to be convicted of a crime he did not commit. (R83) T.M. has always denied the accusations regarding the 2011 incident.

In August 2011, several months after the alleged incident, the parties entered into a Stipulation and Order for Legal Custody and Physical Placement agreeing to shared joint legal custody and shared equal placement. (R1) They co-parented B.M. for approximately five years without

incident. The nature of the parties' relationship over that five years was debated at trial.

A.C. alleged that there was an ongoing pattern of domestic abuse by T.M. against her that culminated in the August, 2016, 10 year injunction under Wis. Stat 813.12(4)(d). (R59)

While admitting that they had verbal disagreements that would often be exaggerated through texting, T.M. denied a prolonged history of abuse, and denied any physical abuse. He questioned A.C.'s stated concerns prior to the injunction pointing to the fact over the course of the five years A.C. repeatedly asked him for sex, repeatedly asked him over to her house, repeatedly asked him to go on trips together, and to plan events together. (R106;107;108;100;109) She permitted her other children to visit with T.M. and for him to bring them places. (R133,p77,93-94) Instead, T.M. believe that A.C. became upset that the relationship was not going to result in a long term commitment. (R133,p95-99)

A.C. agreed that the relationship had ups and downs and that she had hoped to make it work with T.M., maintaining that she wasn't afraid of him every day but there were days he was mean. (R132,p247-257) However A.C.

was very clear that she did not believe that T.M. would physically harm B.M. (R132,p228)

A.C. also alleged that T.M. had violated the 2016 injunction on two occasions thereby justifying her request to move. One alleged violation occurred at B.M.'s school Christmas concert. (R132,p266-267). The second was B.M.'s wrestling match. (R132,p267) T.M. presented evidence that he was not trying to violate the injunction. He was not sure whether A.C. would be at either event. (R133,p133) He contacted two law enforcement officers who were also his friends, Detective Kummet and his wife Trooper Kummet, for advice as to whether he and A.C. could attend an event for B.M. (R132,p285;R133,p13) Trooper Kummet testified that she consulted with the District Attorney and advised T.M. after that conversation that he should go and "watch his son as long as he didn't have contact with A.C." (R133,p14) T.M. also contacted his criminal defense attorney, and his former family law attorney as well as the Rice Lake Police Department on how to handle possible situations where both parents were at an event so as to not be in violation of the injunction. (R133,p126-127) T.M. was never charged with, nor found to be, in violation of the injunction.

While there was some generalized testimony that children who observe domestic violence can suffer or have

lasting effects, there was no credible evidence that B.M. exhibited any such symptoms. A.C. and some of her family and friends testified that B.M. had behavioral problems after being with T.M. and was disrespectful toward his mother or that his stuttering may increase. However, even some of these witnesses acknowledged that to the extent they reported changes it could be attributable to any number of things. (R132,p23,39-41) The GAL pointed out that no expert testimony was provided identifying B.M.'s behaviors as being related to placement. (R91,p4) The only neutral witness who both had professional expertise and direct interaction with B.M. on a regular basis was his teacher - who was clear that there was no difference in B.M. based on which parent he was with:

Q Miss Olson, you are aware that B.M. is from a split household?

A Yes...

Q And you're also aware that B.M. spends time both at mom's house and at dad's house throughout the week?

A Correct.

Q And that changes every week, correct?

A Yup.

Q Now on any given day, can you determine, based on B.M.'s behavior, as to what household he's been at?

A I cannot. Honestly, if I didn't have his calendar with the schedule on there of where he was going, I would honestly have no clue who he was with.

Q So do you notice any behavioral changes on a day-to-day basis in your classroom?

A I don't. He's typically the same little silly boy. He needs redirection. He is six years old. He's very young. Some of the students in first grade are seven and some are turning eight, and he will just be turning seven. But no, like I -- his behavior was very consistent throughout the year, just needed redirection here and there to get back on task or to stay separated from another little student in the classroom.

...

Q You're aware that B.M. also has a stutter, correct?

A Correct.

Q Now is there days -- I'm sorry, are there days when B.M.'s stutter is worse than on other days?

A You know, there really was no pattern...It kind of seems like it comes and goes. I did e-mail both A.C. and T.M. just this week, I believe it was on Tuesday stating that I noticed his stuttering was getting a little bit more heavy again. It was more noticeable. So I kind of feel like it comes and goes, but there is no -- to me, there isn't like a rhyme or reason to it. There's nothing here at school that's changed or anything like that.

Q Have you noticed, based on the calendar of where B.M. is placed, if there's any pattern relating to whether his stuttering is heavy?

A I have not.

...

Q Let's talk about behavior now. Did you have behavior issues with B.M. in the classroom, particularly?

A You know at the beginning of the year with all kids, with all typical first graders, I guess, they kind of, you know, give the teacher a little run for her money, they kind of test you a little bit, and as with B.M.

at the beginning of the year trying to see what he could get away with, what he couldn't get away with, what the expectations and the rules were. But honestly, with redirection he did wonderful, and he needed it throughout the whole school year, as did a lot of the kids in the classroom.

At times he just wanted to be silly and he wants his friends to like him, he wants to have a good time. With a simple redirection of hey, B.M., I see ya, or B.M. , what are you doing? What do you need to be doing? He would get it together and he did great.

Q Did you happen to notice if there was any pattern in behavior based on his calendar of placement with either mom or dad?

A I did not, no. Every day he came in he was a happy little guy. He honestly had no like behavior issues. He was very consistent. He was just -- he was B.M. (R133,p161-169)

The teacher also testified that B.M. started out the year a bit behind, but both parents worked with the school to bring him up to speed. (R133,p164-167,173) She expressed concern about the proposed move:

Q If a child, Ms. Olson, doesn't have to move and he can maintain his school and not switch schools, do you believe that to be in the child's best interest?

A I do, just especially with B.M. being in some reading and math interventions. He's already built that relationship with those teachers. I know another school district would have the same -- they would probably have a math interventionist and reading interventionist as well, but again, if he would need that extra support in second grade, he would have to start over with building a relationship with those teachers.

Q And he already has established a rapport and connection with the teachers at Hilltop; is that correct?

A He has, uh-huh. (R133,174-175)

The GAL summarized the testimony in her recommendation stating as follows:

Testimony indicated that B.M. is bonded with both parents and he enjoys spending time with each parent. He is used to having frequent contact with each parent. The current placement schedule was part of an agreement the parents entered into in August of 2011. B.M. only knows living at both mom's house and dad's. Prior to August of 2016, when the restraining order went into effect, the parties were more flexible. Testimony indicated that if one parent had to work or had other commitments, the other parent typically spent time with the child. (R91,p4)

#### **The Decision**

Judge Bitney found that there had been a substantial change in circumstances since the August 2011 Order was issued, and that it was in the best interests and welfare of B.M. that his mother be granted sole legal custody and primary physical placement. The court approved the move to Durand. (R92,p5)

#### **Facebook friending while matter pending**

Following the hotly contested custody hearing, but before the decision was rendered, A.C. sent a Facebook friend request to Judge Bitney and he accepted. (R134,p29)

This was discovered when the GAL, Attorney Laura Sutton, became aware that A.C. had posted on Facebook about the Decision. After reading A.C.'s post, Attorney Sutton

felt a duty to report it to T.M.'s counsel, Attorney Heather Pauls. (R106) Attorney Pauls accessed Facebook and confirmed that the Judge and A.C. were Facebook friends. Attorney Pauls reviewed A.C.'s post about the decision which said, "The Honorable Judge has granted everything we requested." (R107, ExB, App.24-27) Attorney Pauls also noted that A.C. had at least one post about domestic violence. (R107) Attorney Pauls then advised T.M. of the Facebook connection and the post.

T.M. was understandably concerned. He expressed that he perceived there to be a conflict, or certainly an appearance of conflict given, in part, the unknown nature of the Judge and A.C.'s relationship and what information that A.C. posted or liked that may have then shown in the Judge's Facebook feed. T.M. expressed concern that the friendship or the posts may have impacted the decision in the case, even subconsciously. Had he known that they were Facebook friends he would have requested recusal or pursued options for substitution or disqualification. He questioned what the decision would have been without any outside influences or the potential for such. (R104)

T.M.'s sister, who had been Facebook friends with A.C., submitted an affidavit stating that during the custody dispute A.C. had noticeably changed her Facebook

persona and believed it was a purposeful attempt by A.C. to have positive images of herself cycled to her friends' newsfeeds -- which would have included Judge Bitney at the time he was working on the case. A.C. was posting family pictures and posts about children and family. T.M.'s sister averred that she perceived it to be a conflict of interest, or at the very least created an appearance of a conflict, because the Judge would have been provided with information from A.C. (i.e., all of her posts and likes) outside of the courtroom, and T.M. did not have the same opportunity to present such information. (R105)

At the hearing on the motion for relief, Judge Bitney confirmed that he accepted a Facebook friend request from A.C. shortly after the hearing and before he had rendered his decision. However, he concluded that he did not have a subjective bias in favor of A.C., nor would a reasonable person call into question his impartiality, stating that even though he accepted the friend request before penning his decision, he already had his mind made up. (R124,p30-35)

I don't agree with the analogy to someone intervening during jury deliberations following a trial. That would certainly call question into the verdict rendered by a jury. And the reason I say that is because in this case, although the decision hadn't come down from the Court yet, a decision on whether to award A.C. full custody was made long before the friendship request was ever tendered. I think it was either ten days or two weeks after the conclusion of

the hearing that the friendship request came in via Facebook. And I can assure counsel that by then, I had decided how I was going to rule, even though it hadn't been reduced to writing. And that the fact - the friendship request had no bearing on the decision that was ultimately penned by the Court and filed I think it was in early August. (R134, p31-32)

Judge Bitney denied the motions for relief and reconsideration.

#### **ARGUMENT**

**I. Because of the appearance of impropriety and partiality, retroactive disqualification and new hearing with a new judge is warranted.**

**A. The Appearance of Partiality must be avoided.**

**1. Standard of review.**

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