RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-02-2018** COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CASE NO. 2017-AP-002132 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

In re the Paternity of B.J.M.

Timothy W. Miller,

Joint-Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

Angela L. Carroll,

Joint-Petitioner-Respondent,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BARRON COUNTY

THE HONORABLE J. MICHAEL BITNEY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SCHWARTZ LAW FIRM

Brandon M. Schwartz (#1084533) Michael D. Schwartz (#1018933) 600 Inwood Avenue N., Suite 130 Oakdale, Minnesota 55128 Telephone: 651-528-6800 Facsimile: 651-528-6450 Email: <u>brandon@mdspalaw.com</u> Email: <u>michael@mdspalaw.com</u>

Dated: March 29, 2018

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

VI. ARGUMENT.

A. THE INNOCUOUS FACEBOOK "FRIENDSHIP" IS NOT A BASIS FOR DISQUALIFICATION OR RELIEF.

"When analyzing a judicial bias claim, we always presume that the judge was fair, impartial, and capable of ignoring any biasing influences." *State v. Gudgeon*, 720 N.W.2d 114, 121 (Wis. Ct. App. 2006). Further, there is a presumption that "circuit court judges try to be fair and impartial in their conduct of trials, and this presumption must be overcome by proof

except in extreme cases of structural error." *State v. Carpure*, 683 N.W.2d 31, 41 (Wis. 2004). "The test for bias comprises two inquiries, one subjective and one objective." *Id.* "Judges must disqualify themselves based on subjective bias whenever they have any personal doubts as to whether they can avoid partiality to one side." *Id.* "The second component, the objective test, asks whether a reasonable person could question the judge's impartiality." *Id.*

1. Judge Bitney's determination on the subjective portion of the test is binding.

Judge Bitney unequivocally held that he had no subjective bias requiring his recusal. Because this determination is "binding", this prong of the test will not be further addressed. *See Pirtle*, 799 N.W.2d at 504 *citing McBride*, 523 N.W.2d at 110.

2. Miller has failed to establish that a reasonable person could question Judge Bitney's impartiality.

Miller goes to great lengths to trump up the Facebook "friendship" between Judge Bitney and Carroll and the alleged ex parte communcations. This "friendship" is the primary basis for his request to disqualify Judge Bitney and re-try the two-day evidentiary hearing. However, the "friendship", which did not begin until after the evidentiary hearing was concluded and after Judge Bitney made his decision (but before he memorialized his decision in writing), was harmless (at worst) and could not reasonably be viewed to have biased the Circuit Court. Carroll was one of Judge Bitney's over 2,000 Facebook "friends." Miller presented <u>no</u> evidence of any ex parte communications, Judge Bitney confirmed he had <u>no</u> ex parte communications with Carroll, and Miller presented <u>no</u> evidence from a neutral and reasonable individual that viewed the Facebook "friendship" as biasing Judge Bitney. Further, the various ethics opinions rendered on the subject, as well as recent case law, establish no impropriety by Judge Bitney, no basis for disqualification, and no reason to re-try the matter.

It is important to put into context what a Facebook "friend" truly constitutes:

As previously discussed, the use of the word "friend" on social media is different from the traditional meaning of the word. The same is true for the word "like." In the social media context, "friending" and "liking" are methods of exchanging, both by sending and receiving, information.

Merely "friending" a person on Facebook or "liking" a particular page, does not necessarily mean the two are friends in the traditional sense or that anyone actually likes, in the traditional way, the user's posts. In this manner, "friending," "liking," or subscribing to a particular page or posting may not be seen as an endorsement.

(App. 223-251) (emphasis added).

. . .

Miller offered no evidence from a neutral and reasonable individual proffering that they believed the Facebook "friendship" biased Judge Bitney. Miller offered the Affidavit of the GAL in support of his Motion to Disqualify, however, the GAL's Affidavit is notably barren of any opinion by the GAL questioning Judge Bitney's impartiality based on the Facebook "friendship". (Miller App. 24-27). Even Miller's attorney during the twoday evidentiary hearing, Ms. Pauls, who did not argue the disqualification issue, does <u>not</u> state in her Affidavit that she believed the Facebook "friendship" biased Judge Bitney. (Miller App. 24-27). Miller only offered speculation and conjecture, no evidence, that a reasonable individual may have questioned Judge Bitney's partiality due to the Facebook "friendship".

While Wisconsin has not issued an ethics opinion on the subject², the various ethics opinions issued throughout the Country and by the American Bar Association establish that no reasonable person could question Judge Bitney's impartiality based upon the Facebook "friendship" in question:

Simple designation as an ESM connection does not, in and of itself, indicate the degree or intensity of a judge's relationship with a person. Because of the open and casual nature of ESM communication, a judge will seldom have an affirmative duty to disclose an ESM connection.

(App. 255-258) (emphasis added); see also (App. 259-266)

The JEAC concludes that the Arizona Code of Judicial Conduct does not impose a per se disqualification requirement in cases where a litigant or lawyer is a "friend" or has a similar status with a judge through a social or electronic networks.

•••

² (App. 252-254).

(App. 263-277); *see also* (App. 282-283) ("Accordingly, it is the Committee's position that "the mere fact of a social connection" does not create a conflict."); (App. 284-286) ("The Committee cannot discern anything inherently inappropriate about a judge joining and making use of a social network.

And most importantly:

While the nomenclature of a social networking site may designate certain participants as "friends," the view of the Committee is that such a listing, by itself, *does not reasonably* convey to others an impression that such persons are in a special position to influence the judge.

•••

While social networking sites may create a more public means of indicting a connection, the Committee's view is that the **designation of a "friend" on a social networking site does not, in and of itself, indicate the degree or intensity of a judge's relationship with the person who is the "friend"**. The Committee conceives such terms as "friend," "fan" and "follower" to be terms of art used by the site, not the ordinary sense of those words.

The consensus of this Committee is that participation and listing alone do not violate the Kentucky Code of Judicial Conduct, and specifically do not "convey or permit others to convey the impression that they are in a special position to influence the judge."

•••

In the final analysis, the reality that Kentucky judges are elected and should not be isolated from the community in which they serve tipped the Committee's decision.

(App. 291-296)(emphasis added).

The Committee believes that the mere status of being a "Facebook friend," without more, is an insufficient basis to require recusal. Nor does the Committee believe that a judge's impartiality may reasonably be questioned (see 22 NYCRR 100.3[E][1]) or that there is an **appearance of impropriety** (*see* 22 NYCRR 100.2[A]) based solely on having previously "friended" certain individuals who are now involved in some manner in a pending action.

(App. 297-298)(emphasis added).

As set forth in the various ethics opinions cited above, it is entirely unsupported for Miller to take the position that any reasonable person would or could question the impartiality of Judge Bitney based on the Facebook "friendship" with Carroll. Recent cases addressing social media connections also support the denial of Miller's Motion.

The Florida Court of Appeals recently issued a well-reasoned decision regarding an analogous petition to disqualify a judge. In *Law Offices of Herssein v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n*, 2017 Fla. App. LEXIS 12056 (Fl. Ct. App. Aug. 23, 2017)³ the disqualification was based on the judge being a Facebook "friend" with a lawyer representing a potential witness and potential party to the litigation. In support of the petition, an affidavit was submitted, similar to the affidavits submitted on behalf of Miller, stating:

[b]ecause [the trial judge] is Facebook friends with Reyes, [the executive's] personal attorney, I have a well-grounded fear of not receiving a fair and impartial trial. Further, based on [the trial judge] being Facebook friends with Reyes, I...believe that Reyes, [the executive's] lawyer has influenced [the trial judge].

Id. at *2.

³ (R116, App. 299-303).
The Florida Court of Appeals reviewed the request under a

reasonably prudent person standard similar to Wisconsin's second prong.

Id.. In rejecting the request for disqualification, the Court held as follows:

We agree with the Fifth District that "[a] Facebook friendship does not necessarily signify the existence of a close relationship." We do so for three reasons. First, as the Kentucky Supreme Court noted, "some people have thousands of Facebook 'friends.'" *Sluss v. Commonwealth*, 381 S.W.3d 215, 222 (Ky. 2012).

•••

Second, Facebook members often cannot recall every person they have accepted as "friends" or who have accepted them as "friends."

Third, many Facebook "friends" are selected based upon Facebook's data-mining technology rather than personal interactions.

•••

The use of **data mining and networking algorithms**, which are also revolutionizing modern marketing and national security systems, reflects an astounding development in applied mathematics; it constitutes a powerful tool to build personal and professional networks; and it has **nothing to do with close or intimate friendships of the sort that would require recusal**. This common method of selecting Facebook "friends" undermines the rationale of *Domville* and the 2009 Ethics Opinion that a judge's selection of Facebook "friends" necessarily "conveys or permits others to convey the impression that they are in a special position to influence the judge."

A random name drawn from a list of Facebook "friends" probably belongs to casual friend; an acquaintance; an old classmate; a person with whom the member shares a common hobby; a "friend of a friend;" or even a local celebrity like a coach⁴. An assumption that all Facebook "friends" rise to the level of a close relationship that warrants

⁴ Or a publically elected official such as a judge.

disqualification simply does not reflect the current nature of this type of electronic social networking.

Because a "friend" on a social networking website is not necessarily a friend in the traditional sense of the word, we hold that the mere fact that a judge is a Facebook "friend" with a lawyer for a potential party or witness, without more, does not provide a basis for a wellgrounded fear that the judge cannot be impartial or that the judge is under the influence of the Facebook "friend."

(App. 301-302) (emphasis added). *See also State v. Forguson*, 2014 WL 631246 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2014) (App. 304-316) (holding that there was not a sufficient showing of proof that trial judge could not be impartial as "thirteenth juror" when trial judge was Facebook "friend" of confidential informant and the record did not show the length of the Facebook relationship or the extent or nature of the interactions); *State v. Madden*, 2014 WL 931031 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2014) (App. 317-328) (holding that criminal defendant failed to establish bias of trial court judge although judge had numerous community ties and a Facebook connection with one of the State's witnesses)

There is no basis to allege that any Facebook "friendship" biased Judge Bitney in this matter. Proof positive of this point, Judge Bitney is a Facebook "friend" with the GAL, however, rejected the GAL's recommendations.

With regards to Miller's allegations of ex parte communications, the allegations are drastically overstated. The record is barren of any support to

Miller's argument that, other than accepting the Facebook "friend" request, Judge Bitney ever saw Carroll's comments regarding his knee surgery, or knew that she "liked" any of his posts about the Bible or food, or that he ever viewed Carroll's "News Feed." To the contrary, Judge Bitney did <u>not</u> respond to Carroll's well-wishes on his surgery, did not comment on any of Carroll's own posts, and did not "like" any of Carroll's Facebook posts. Most importantly, there were no communications, posts, "likes" or discussion regarding the custody case; <u>none</u>. Further, there were no internal messages on Facebook exchanged between Carroll and Judge Bitney.

Judges are people too. Whereas here, a Facebook "friendship" request was sent after an evidentiary hearing and after the Judge had reached their decision, and where there were no communications between the Judge and the litigant regarding the case, or any evidence whatsoever that the Judge even viewed any of the "likes" or posts, there is no legitimate concern that the Judge was objectively biased. To the contrary, the evidence overwhelmingly supports the conclusion reached here by Judge Bitney. Unlike the matters relied upon by Miller in which a judge takes retribution for a failed ESM connection, *see e.g. Chace v. Louisel*, 170 So.3d 802 (Dist. Ct. App. 2014) ("attributing most of the marital debt to Petitioner and providing Respondent with a disproportionately excessive alimony award" after Petitioner did not respond to the Judge's "friend"

request), Judge Bitney's orders in this matter were precisely in accordance with the law of this case and the facts admitted into evidence. While Miller may not agree with the highly discretionary decision by Judge Bitney to grant Carroll's Motion, there is no support that such a decision was made due to the Facebook "friendship". As such, Carroll respectfully requests that the Circuit Court be affirmed on all matters.

B. MILLER'S PATTERN OF AND SERIOUS INCIDENTS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE, THE SAFETY OF B.J.M., THE SAFETY OF CARROLL, AND THE BEST INTERESTS FACTORS SUPPORT THE COURT'S DECISION REGARDING CUSTODY, PLACEMENT AND CHILD SUPPORT.

The Court of Appeals is highly deferential to the Circuit Court regarding the sufficiency of the evidence, an overwhelming preponderance of which supported Carroll's Motion and the Circuit Court's *Decision Regarding Custody, Placement and Child Support* (R92) and subsequent *Order* (R97). In light of the pattern of and serious incidents of domestic abuse perpetrated by Miller against Carroll, the Circuit Court properly applied the rebuttable presumption necessitating the award of sole legal custody and sole physical custody to Carroll. There is no legal basis and no factual basis upon which to reverse the Circuit Court's ruling in this regard and Carroll respectfully requests that the Circuit Court be affirmed.

Custody and placement decisions are discretionary determinations of the Circuit Court. *Koeller v. Koeller*, 536 N.W.2d 216, 218 (Wis. Ct. App.

1995). "As has been repeatedly held by this court, the matter of the custody of children in divorce actions is a matter peculiarly within the jurisdiction of the trial court, who has seen the parties, had an opportunity to observe their conduct, and is in much better position to determine where the best interests of the child lie than is an appellate court." *In re Adoption of R.*, 297 N.W.2d 833, 836 (Wis. 1980) *quoting Adams v. Adams*, 190 N.W. 359, 360 (Wis. 1922). "[T]he trial judge is the ultimate arbiter of the credibility of the witnesses...Further, when more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the credible evidence, the reviewing court must accept the inference drawn of the trier of fact." *Gehr v. Sheboygan*, 260 N.W.2d 30, 33 (Wis. 1977).

Applicable here, Wis. Stat. § 67.451(1)(b) governs substantial modifications to physical placement orders that may be sought by a parent after two years have passed from the date of the final judgment. Consistent with para. (b), the Circuit Court considered such modification request using a two-step process. *Greene v. Hahn*, 689 N.W.2d 657, 664 (Wis. Ct. App. 2004). First, "whenever a requested modification 'would substantially alter the time a parent may spend with his or her child,' the moving party must show that there has been 'a substantial change of circumstances since the entry of the last order ... substantially affecting physical placement.'" *Id*. (citation omitted). A substantial change of circumstances "requires that the facts on which the prior order was based differ from the present facts, and

the difference is enough to justify the court's considering whether to modify the order." *Licary v. Licary*, 484 N.W.2d 371, 374 (Wis. Ct. App. 1992). If the Circuit Court finds that there has been a substantial change in circumstances, it then moves to the second step: considering whether modification would be "in the best interest of the child." *Greene*, 689 N.W.2d at 665 (citation omitted). In making this determination and subject to Wis. Stat. § 767.41(5)(bm), the Circuit Court properly considered the factors set forth in Wis. Stat. § 767.41(5)(am).

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